

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com



Journal of Chromatography B, 797 (2003) 3-19

JOURNAL OF CHROMATOGRAPHY B

www.elsevier.com/locate/chromb

Review

Separation methods for estimating octanol-water partition coefficients

Salwa K. Poole^{a,*}, Colin F. Poole^b

^a Discovery Technologies, Pfizer Global Research and Development, Ann Arbor Laboratories, 2800 Plymouth Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48105, USA ^b Department of Chemistry, Wayne State University, Detroit, MI 48202, USA

Abstract

Separation methods for the indirect estimation of the octanol–water partition coefficient $(\log P)$ are reviewed with an emphasis on high throughput methods with a wide application range. The solvation parameter model is used to identify suitable separation systems for estimating $\log P$ in an efficient manner that negates the need for empirical trial and error experiments. With a few exceptions, systems based on reversed-phase chromatography employing chemically bonded phases are shown to be unsuitable for estimating $\log P$ for compounds of diverse structure. This is because the fundamental properties responsible for chromatographic retention tend to be different to those responsible for partition between octanol and water, especially the contribution from hydrogen bonding interactions. On the other hand, retention in several micellar and microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography systems is shown to be highly correlated with the octanol–water partition coefficient. These systems are suitable for the rapid, high throughput determination of $\log P$ for neutral, weakly acidic, and weakly basic compounds. For compounds with a permanent charge, electrophoretic migration and electrostatic interactions with the stationary phase results in inaccurate estimation of partition coefficients. The experimental determination of solute descriptors offers an alternative approach for estimating $\log P$, and other biopartitioning properties. A distinct advantage of this approach is that once the solute descriptors are known, solute properties can be estimated for any distribution or transport system for which a solvation parameter model has been established. © 2003 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Reviews; Octanol-water partition coefficient

Contents

1.	Introduction	3
2.	Traditional and direct chromatographic methods	5
3.	Indirect separation methods	6
	3.1. Solvation parameter model	6
	3.2. Reversed-phase liquid chromatography	7
	3.3. Reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography	11
	3.4. Micellar, microemulsion and vesicle electrokinetic chromatography	13
4.	Indirect methods using experimentally determined solute descriptors	16
5.	Conclusions	17
6.	Nomenclature	17
Re	ferences	17

1. Introduction

The development of high throughput in vitro biological screens and combinatorial chemical synthesis have changed

1570-0232/\$ – see front matter © 2003 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.jchromb.2003.08.032 dramatically the way biologically active compounds are identified and optimized for applications in medicine and agriculture [1-3]. As these approaches became routine in many industries, attention shifted to improving the efficiency of compound development by minimizing the attrition rate and shortening the development time. This resulted in an increasing demand for physicochemical property determinations to assess such factors as biopharmaceutical

^{*} Corresponding author. Tel.: +1-734-622-3077;

fax: +1-734-622-2716.

E-mail address: salwa.poole@pfizer.com (S.K. Poole).

properties, toxicity, bioconcentration, environmental fate, etc. at an early stage of compound development. For example, a potential drug candidate has to cross several barriers, until it binds to the target and induces the desired response. These barriers are characterized as absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion or the "ADME" interface. Early prediction of ADME properties serves as an indication of the likely development success of a compound. Access to this valuable information can help identify candidates with inadequate properties as well as providing insights to guide structure optimization. In the same way, a small number of physicochemical properties are used in risk assessment to predict a compound's potential for bioconcentration and aquatic toxicity to arrive at an appropriate hazard category [4–6].

The core properties required to estimate absorption, distribution, and transport in biological systems are solubility, lipophilicity, stability, and acid–base character [2,7,8]. These properties are used directly or through structure activity relationships to help design active compounds and determine toxicity and membrane permeation. Solubility is usually expressed as the saturation solubility in a defined solvent at a specified temperature. Stability requires a working definition tailored to the environmental characteristics important for assessing survival rates. Lipophilicity is a complex property more often than not determined by the octanol-water partition coefficient. Acid-base character is determined by a compound's pK_a value. Each property is usually determined in a separate experiment. When these properties were determined mainly for registration purposes, traditional methods of measurement were adequate, since only a small number of measurements were required. It was more important that these measurements were accurate and speed and cost were secondary considerations. Traditional methods, however, are too slow, labor intensive, and expensive to employ alongside high throughput synthesis and screening methods. Combinatorial syntheses produce relatively small amounts of material that is often impure and frequently dissolved in a solvent, such as dimethyl sulfoxide, suitable for biological screens. Although accuracy remains a goal, of equal weight is that the methods selected for physicochemical measurements can accommodate the above sample characteristics as well as being fast and easily automated. If physicochemical property determinations are not to be a bottleneck in the discovery process, it must be at least as easy to measure a desired property as it is to synthesize the compound. In addition, the cost of making the measurement must not be an unreasonable burden on the discovery process. These requirements have challenged the analytical community to devise new strategies for rapid, automated, high throughput and rugged methods for physical property determinations that quite often differ significantly in principle and practice from traditional methods.

Although the concept of hydrophobicity and lipophilicity are widely used in relation to the sorption of organic chemicals from water, their exact meaning is somewhat vague or confused with their (alleged) consequences [9–11]. The hydrophobic effect refers to the tendency of non-polar compounds to prefer a non-aqueous environment over an aqueous environment. The driving force for this process is created by the preference of water to reform an ordered structure. Lipophilicity is an extension of the hydrophobic effect and includes the favorable solute-solvent interactions that contribute to the distribution of a solute between water and an organic solvent, or other solubilizing media, such as biomembranes. Hydrophobicity, therefore, is not synonymous with lipophilicity, but a mere component of it. Likewise, hydrophobicity and lipophilicity cannot be considered solute properties, but are a manifestation of the characteristic properties of the system or environment in which the solute finds itself. In this way, solute lipophilicity is at least, in part, a system property, with a driving force that has as much to do with the exclusion of the solute from water as its liking (or love) for the lipid media.

The concept of hydrophobicity or lipophilicity takes on a broader meaning in chemistry because of the importance of these processes in life sciences and the environment. The hydrophobic effect is assumed to be one of the driving forces for the passive transport of drugs through biological membranes and as a component of drug-receptor binding [1–3]. The biodistribution, protein binding, and metabolism of drugs may also be altered by their lipophilicity. It is generally held that lipophilic compounds are preferred targets for metabolism, often leading to high clearance rates and, frequently, lipophilicity correlates positively with a high protein binding. Non-specific toxicity is expected to correlate with a compound's propensity to accumulate in cell membranes and therefore, its lipophilicity [6,12]. Bioavailability and bioconcentration studies have attempted to determine the extent to which environmentally relevant chemicals enter and accumulate in the food chain through sorption from water and the ingestion of contaminated fish and plants by other animals. These factors are also commonly related to a compound's lipophilicity [11-13]. The distribution of compounds between soil or sediment and water is an important factor in risk assessment, the management of hazardous waste disposal, and the correct use of crop-protecting agents in agriculture [4,5,14,15]. These properties are strongly correlated with the compound's lipophilicity.

Oil–water partition coefficients in general, and the octanol–water partition coefficient in particular, are widely used as a measure of lipophilicity [8,11,16]. The octanol–water partition coefficient is one of the most commonly reported physicochemical properties of drugs and industrial chemicals and, if for no other reason, is the de facto scale most often used in establishing quantitative structure-activity relationships (QSARs). QSARs have been developed for all kinds of biological, pharmaceutical, and environmental property estimates based on the octanol–water partition coefficient as a general solute descriptor for the lipophilicity of organic compounds [4,5,8,9,11,16–18]. Given the large diversity in biological

systems and environmental compartments, it is unlikely that a single solute descriptor could adequately represent the range of expected system properties. Many correlation models are in fact restricted to a limited range of solute structures, because the factors responsible for membrane solubility are not the same as those responsible for solvation by wet octanol.

There is sometimes confusion over the definition and representation of the octanol–water partition coefficient. It is most often indicated as $\log P$, $\log K$, $\log D$, etc. frequently with a subscript O or W. $\log P$ is generally used to indicate any partition coefficient and $\log K$ any equilibrium constant. Since only the octanol–water partition coefficient is considered here, we will use $\log P$ for the octanol–water partition coefficient for a neutral substance or an ionizable substance in its neutral form. $\log P$ is then defined as

$$\log P = \log\left(\frac{C_{\rm O}}{C_{\rm W}}\right),\tag{1}$$

where C_0 is the concentration of compound in the octanol phase and C_W its concentration in the aqueous phase when the system is at equilibrium. The use of log *D* is reserved for the partition coefficient in the octanol–water distribution system when the compound participates in a secondary chemical equilibrium in either or both phases (e.g. ionization, aggregation, ion pair formation, etc.). For the case of ionization in the aqueous phase, log *P* and log *D* are related by Eq. (2) for a weak monoprotic acid that is partially ionized in the aqueous phase and by Eq. (3) for a weak monoprotic base that is partially protonated in the aqueous phase.

$$\log D = \log P_{\rm XH} - \log(1 + 10^{(pK_a - pH)})$$
(2)

$$\log D = \log P_{\rm X} - \log(1 + 10^{(\rm pH - pK_a)}), \tag{3}$$

where XH and X refer to the neutral form of the weak acid and base, respectively. If $\log P$ and the pK_a of a compound are known, $\log D$ can be calculated at any pH. For polyprotic compounds the equations become more complicated. Details can be found in [17].

2. Traditional and direct chromatographic methods

Standard procedures for the determination of octanol– water partition coefficients using the shake flask process are time consuming, tedious, prone to emulsion problems, and require relatively large amounts of pure compounds [16,19]. In addition, the following practical considerations are important: (a) complete separation of the layers since any droplets of octanol in the aqueous phase may contain large amounts of sample; (b) presaturation of the two phases is required; (c) the sample concentration must be less than the critical micelle concentration; (d) measurements need to be carried out at concentrations below the aqueous solubility limit; and (e) lipophilic basic compounds may adsorb onto surface of the apparatus. Stir-flask, generator column, potentiometric titration, and high-speed countercurrent chromatography provide improvements in some aspects of the measurement process but are unsuitable for high throughput methods. Emulsion problems can be minimized using a dialysis tube to separate the water and octanol phases and ultrasonic agitation to shorten the equilibration time [20,21]. If a separation method is used to determine the concentration of analyte in both phases then partition coefficients can be determined for impure compounds. This is still a relatively slow process, however, requiring several hours per sample. A micro-volume extraction system based on air segregation and sequential injection of aqueous sample and octanol in a capillary tube with on-column detection to determine sample concentration in both phases after a suitable delay time was recently described [22]. In order to create a closed system and to prevent axial sample dispersion in the capillary, air pockets are introduced before and after the sample/octanol plug. Equilibrium is reached within a short time due to the large contact area between the two phases (relative to their respective volumes) combined with rapid intrasegmental mixing. Equilibrium is monitored by reversing the flow direction in a cyclic fashion so that the aqueous buffer and octanol segments are passed continuously back and forth through the detector until the sample concentration stabilizes in each segment. This method shows reasonable promise for high throughput measurements with a typical analysis time of about 4 min and a sample requirement of less than 1 µl of solution. However, it is likely to be restricted to relatively pure compounds with favorable UV absorbance and a modest range of partition coefficient values. A micro-shake flask method has been demonstrated for the high throughput determination of octanol-water partition coefficients [7]. Equilibrium of the sample between octanol-water is performed in a standard sample vial using a vial-roller for mixing followed by injection from the aqueous phase only to determine sample concentrations by gradient elution liquid chromatography with UV detection. The sample solution is divided between four vials; the first contains the sample in aqueous buffer only and the other three different ratios of aqueous buffer containing sample and octanol. Different ratios are used to enhance the range of partition coefficients that can be determined. The partition coefficient is calculated from the ratio of the peak areas for the compound in the two phases and the phase ratio for each system. The throughput for this method is typically 24 samples per day per instrument. The main limitation is that the sample must have reasonable solubility $(>10 \,\mu\text{g/ml})$ in the aqueous buffer. The range of log D values covered is about -1.5 to 3.5. Typical sample requirements are 0.5 mg.

To increase sample throughput, the traditional shake flask method has been automated and miniaturized by transfer to 96-well plate technology using robotic liquid handlers for sample preparation [23,24]. After equilibration, an aliquot is analyzed from each phase by gradient elution liquid chromatography with UV absorption [23] or single ion monitoring mass spectrometry [24]. High sample throughput is obtained by use of fast gradient separations with a cycle time of about 5 min (10 min to analyze both layers). Both methods are limited by the dynamic range of the detector and the minimum detection limit for the analyte in either phase to $\log P$ values of about -2 to 4. The single-ion detection method used overnight shaking, centrifugation and phase separation as sample handing steps. The UV detector method used 30 min shaking, a rest period, and a programmed autosampler injector. The autosampler needle was made to sample from both the bottom of the well and higher up in the well allowing both layers for each sample to be injected consecutively. A solvent rinse step was programmed to wash the injector and transfer line between injections to minimize carryover, identified as a potential error source.

3. Indirect separation methods

Chromatographic and electrophoretic methods require very little material (which does not have to be pure), are fast compared to traditional methods, and are relatively easy to automate. These methods are, of course, indirect, based on the construction of a correlation model, Eq. (4), between a retention property characteristic of the solute and the separation system for a training set of solutes with known $\log P$ values. Then, further measurements of the retention property in the separation system can be used to estimate $\log P$ values for other compounds:

$$\log P = p + q \log k,\tag{4}$$

where k is the retention factor (or retention factor resulting from the extrapolation of $\log k$ values to zero organic solvent for binary mobile phase mixtures in liquid chromatography, $k_{\rm W}$). For thin-layer chromatography, $R_{\rm M}$ or $R_{\rm MW}$ values are used in place of $\log k$ or $\log k_W$ where $R_M =$ $\log[(1 - R_{\rm F})/R_{\rm F}]$ and $R_{\rm F}$ is the retardation factor. In practice, it is important that the structures of the training set and samples are similar, otherwise incorrect estimates of the partition coefficient are obtained. This arises because the system properties that influence $\log k$ or $\log k_W$ are not usually quite the same as those expressed by the octanol-water partition coefficient. When structurally unrelated compounds are correlated via Eq. (4), the agreement is often poor. Failure to establish that the fundamental intermolecular interactions that control retention in the chromatographic system are correlated with the same properties responsible for partition in the octanol-water system is the main reason that so many published models have limited applicability.

3.1. Solvation parameter model

The solvation parameter model can be used to determine the contribution of individual intermolecular interactions responsible for the partition of neutral molecules in the octanol–water system. This model is also suitable for the determination of the contribution of the same interactions to retention in reversed-phase separation systems, which are most likely to provide surrogate models for the octanol–water partition system. Comparison of the system constants for the octanol–water and separation systems allows a decision to be made as to whether the separation model is correlated with the octanol–water partition system as indicated by Eq. (4).

The solvation parameter model in a general form suitable for establishing the factors responsible for partition in the octanol-water system and the retention properties of reversed-phase separation systems is set out below [9,17,25-27].

$$\log k \text{ or } \log P = c + eE + sS + aA + bB + vV \tag{5}$$

The model consists of product terms representing solute properties (descriptors), indicated by capital letters, and the complementary system properties, indicated by the lower case letters. Each product term describes the relative contribution of defined intermolecular interactions to the correlated solute property, in this case, either log k or log P. The contribution from electron lone pair interactions is defined by eE, interactions of a dipole type by sS, hydrogen-bond interactions by aA and bB, and differences in cavity formation and dispersion interactions for transfer of the solute from one phase to the other by vV. The solute descriptors are formally defined as the excess molar refraction, E, dipolarity/polarizability, S, effective hydrogen-bond acidity, A, effective hydrogen-bond basicity, B, and McGowan's characteristic volume, V. A minor complication is that certain solutes (sulfoxides, anilines, pyridines) show variable hydrogen-bond basicity in partition systems where the non-aqueous phase absorbs appreciable amounts of water [17,28]. These solutes have two values for B. The appropriate value is selected based on system properties. For wet octanol, reversed-phase chromatography and micellar electrokinetic chromatography (MEKC), the separation systems of interest to this report, the same B descriptor appropriate for phases that absorb a significant amount of water is used in all cases. Solute descriptors are available for about 4000 compounds with others available through calculation and estimation methods [17,25,26,29]. Calculation methods that rely on a group contribution approach provide different degrees of success for complex molecules due to the difficulty of adjusting inter-group interactions for different molecular structures [30–32]. For the time being experimental methods for the determination of solute descriptors are more reliable [17,29,33].

The system constants reflect the difference in solvation properties in the two phases. Thus, both their sign and magnitude are important for interpretation of system properties. The system constants are defined as the difference in contributions from electron lone pair interactions, e, dipole-type interactions, s, hydrogen-bond basicity, a, hydrogen-bond acidity, b, and cohesion and dispersion interactions, v, for the two phases. The system constants are calculated by multiple linear regression analysis for a varied group of solutes selected to satisfy the statistical and chemical requirements of the model [25,29,34–36].

The system constants for the octanol-water partition system are: $c = 0.09 \ (\pm 0.02)$; $e = 0.56 \ (\pm 0.01)$; $s = -1.05 \ (\pm 0.02)$; $a = 0.03 \ (\pm 0.02)$; $b = -3.46 \ (\pm 0.03)$; and $v = 3.81 \ (\pm 0.01) \ [28,37,38]$. Water is quite soluble in octanol (0.27 mole fraction) and the solvation properties of wet octanol are not the same as those for dry octanol [39]. System constants with a positive sign favor transfer from the aqueous phase to wet octanol. Thus, wet octanol is more hydrophobic and polarizable than water but less dipolar and hydrogen-bond acidic. The hydrogen-bond basicity of water and wet octanol are about the same.

A separation system will emulate the octanol-water partition system if the system constants for both processes are (nearly) identical. It will correlate with the partition system through a relationship such as Eq. (4), if the ratios of the system constants (e.g. e/v, s/v, a/v, b/v) for both models are (nearly) identical [9,25,40-43]. As long as there is modest agreement in system constant ratios, a reasonable correlation model for homologs (which differ only in the v system constant) and other compounds with only a narrow range of descriptor properties is expected. There are many models of this kind described in the literature, but since they lack generality, they are unsuitable for estimating $\log P$ values for varied compounds. Ishihama and Asakawa [44] have described a vector methodology for comparing solvation models. In this case, the similarity between any two compared solvation equations is expressed as an angle, $\cos \theta$, that approaches one for highly correlated models. This approach has some merit but has been little used in practice [33].

3.2. Reversed-phase liquid chromatography

The use of reversed-phase liquid chromatography for the indirect determination of octanol-water partition coefficients was proposed in the early 1970s and has been reviewed many times since [7-9,11,16,17,45-49]. In spite of many attempts, success has been limited for compounds that exhibit structural diversity. The main facts seem to be (1) reversed-phase chromatographic systems provide a partial, but incomplete, model for the octanol-water partition system; (2) specific interactions can occur at sorbent surfaces that are absent in the octanol-water system (e.g. ion-exchange interactions with silanol groups); (3) pore size effects for sorbents, such as size or ion exclusion, have no parallel in the octanol-water partition system; (4) reproducibility of results on generic column types and different batches of the same column materials are often poor; (5) the elution range for isocratic systems is limited resulting in models with a small window of $\log P$ values and long measurement times in some cases; and (6) the pH operating range for silica-based column materials is limited (e.g. pH 2-7.5). The search for solutions to these problems includes a systematic search for separation systems capable of emulating the octanol-water partition system, solvent generated and coated stationary phases

designed to resemble the octanol-water partitioning system or lipophilic membranes, separations utilizing micellar mobile phases, and methods based on gradient elution separations. Before detailing these developments, there are some fundamental problems to discuss.

The chromatographic property used to correlate with $\log P$ is either the isocratic retention factor $(\log k)$ or the retention factor for water as the mobile phase $(\log k_W)$, usually obtained by extrapolation from isocratic measurements of $\log k$ for several different binary solvent mixtures. A decrease in polarity of the mobile phase, equivalent to increasing the volume fraction of organic solvent in an aqueous mixture, leads to a decrease in retention that can be described by Eq. (6)

$$\log k = \log k_{\rm W} + a_1 \phi + a_2 \phi^2 \tag{6}$$

and if only a limited range of binary mobile phase compositions is considered, by Eq. (7)

$$\log k = \log k_{\rm W} + S\phi,\tag{7}$$

where ϕ is the volume fraction of organic solvent (binary mobile phase), S the slope of the experimental data after fitting to a linear regression model (not to be mistaken for the solute descriptor S used in connection with the solvation parameter model), and a_1 and a_2 are regression constants for the second order model, which are not usually assigned any physical significance [9,27,50-55]. If it is assumed that the mobile phase composition range used to define the relationship for the extrapolation is unimportant, then $\log k_{\rm W}$ values can be obtained for compounds with a wider range of retention properties than is possible for a single mobile phase composition. This simple picture may conform to contemporary practice, but is far from adequate and is difficult to justify. The majority of $\log k$ plots against mobile phase composition are curved when volume fractions of organic solvent close to zero are included in the plot. A large contribution to this curvature is the change in phase ratio associated with the significant change in the composition and structure of the stationary phase in contact with predominantly aqueous mobile phases. Within the intermediate mobile phase composition range, an approximate linear relationship between $\log k$ and the volume fraction of organic solvent can almost always be found, but the intercept obtained by linear extrapolation is generally not the same value as that obtained by curve fitting experimental data that includes measurements at a low volume fraction of organic solvent. Further, when different extrapolation ranges are used for the same compound, different values of $\log k_W$ are frequently obtained. As defined by Eqs. (6) and (7), $\log k_W$ should be independent of the organic solvent type. The available evidence demonstrates that the opposite is generally the case [9]. The problem seems to be that selective solvation of the stationary phase by the organic solvent results in an intercept value that is influenced by the properties of the solvent. In practice, general errors in estimating $\log k_{\rm W}$ and its ambiguous definition make this parameter an unacceptable choice as a characteristic system property for use

in correlation models. The selection of the system variable has not received the critical attention it deserves in many proposed models for the estimation of $\log P$ and is a contributing factor to poor model performance in many studies.

The primary reason that reversed-phase chromatography fails to provide suitable models for estimating $\log P$ is that the intermolecular interactions that contribute to retention in reversed-phase chromatography are similar but not identical in character to those responsible for the octanol-water partition coefficient [9,56-59]. Differences in the contribution from hydrogen-bonding interactions are usually most notable. The solvation parameter model has been used to characterize several hundred reversed-phase chromatographic systems, and although no comprehensive databases are available, a number of large compilations have been reported [9,25,41,43]. These databases contain representative examples of all the common chemically bonded and porous polymer stationary phases as well as specialized phases such as immobilized artificial membranes and polymer encapsulated inorganic oxides with different mobile phase compositions. These databases can be searched using the system constant ratios to identify separation systems with properties similar to the octanol-water partition system. Only three separation systems are identified as possible models for the octanol-water partition system (see Table 1). This is a very small success rate and suggests that in general the widely used chemically bonded phases with common aqueous organic solvent mobile phases are not suitable for estimating $\log P$ for structurally diverse compounds. Two of the candidate systems are based on retention data determined as $\log k_{\rm W}$, which is a poorly defined parameter subject to excessive experimental error (see above). We are skeptical of the robust nature of these models, although the Supelcosil LC-ABZ column did afford a reasonable correlation model for a varied group of compounds [59]. Recent results with methanol-water mobile phases containing less than 50% methanol indicate that $\log k$ values for the Supelocsil LC-ABZ column are suitable for estimating $\log P$ [59,60].

Du et al. [61] provided a representative example of the difficulty of estimating $\log P$ by reversed-phase liquid chromatography on chemically bonded phases. These authors used a Luna (C18) column and acetonitrile–water (40% (v/v)) containing 50 mM ammonium acetate adjusted to pH 7.4 for neutral compounds, pH 10.5 for weak bases (to suppress ionization) and pH 2 for weak acids as mobile phase and obtained the following model

$$\log k = -0.14 + 0.31E - 0.58S - 0.51A - 1.58B + 1.79V$$
(8)

with e/v = 0.18, s/v = -0.32, a/v = -0.29, and b/v = -0.88. There is reasonable agreement with the system constants for the octanol-water partition system except for the a/v ratio. The correlation model for log *P* based on the compounds used to construct Eq. (8) is (rms: root-mean-square

error)

$$\log P = 1.63 \,(\pm 0.05) \log k + 1.10 \,(\pm 0.05),$$

$$n = 111, \ r = 0.951, \ \text{rms} = 0.308 \tag{9}$$

For the same data if a correction is made for the difference in hydrogen-bond basicity of the two systems by inclusion of the A solute descriptor a much better model is obtained

$$\log P = 2.07 (\pm 0.04) \log k + 1.09 (\pm 0.08) A + 0.52 (\pm 0.05), n = 111, r = 0.982, rms = 0.189$$
(10)

Thus, it can be concluded that the Luna column and acetonitrile–water separation system is a reasonable model for estimating $\log P$ for neutral compounds that lack significant hydrogen-bond acidity. It is not suitable, however, for estimating $\log P$ for a varied group of compounds, which includes compounds acting as hydrogen-bond acids.

Coated columns have received little attention for separations [27]. Problems associated with long-term stability can be tolerated for estimating $\log P$ if they provide a more realistic model for the octanol-water partition systems than the more widely used chemically bonded and porous polymer stationary phases. Extensive work has been done with octanol coated [62-64] and phosphatidylcholine coated [58,65] silica and chemically bonded phases. Reasonably stable octanol coated chemically bonded phases can be prepared by the solvent generated technique [62]. The mobile phase, phosphate buffer saturated with octanol is pumped through the column containing a conventional chemically bonded phase until equilibrium is reached. This can be a lengthy process requiring perhaps 1500 interparticle volumes of mobile phase. At equilibrium, the sorbent is loaded with the maximum amount of octanol that can be immobilized on the support without erosion of the stationary liquid. For maximum stability, the mobile phase and column should be thermostated at the same temperature. Reasonable models for predicting $\log P$ from $\log k$ were obtained for neutral and basic compounds with an accessible range of $0.5 \le \log P \le 4$ and standard error in the prediction of $\log P$ of about 0.07 log units. Discrepancies were higher for acidic compounds. Separation times are long for compounds with high log P values and would be a disadvantage for high throughput methods. Lombardo et al. [63,64] used octanol coated reversed-phase columns for the estimation of $\log P$ of neutral compounds (termed $E \log P$) [63] and basic and neutral compounds (termed $E \log D$) [64]. The mobile phase was a 20 mM MOPS buffer pH 7.4 containing 70 to 15% (v/v) methanol. The aqueous buffer was saturated with octanol and 0.25% (v/v) octanol was added to the methanol. For the estimation of $\log D$, 0.15% (v/v) *n*-decylamine was added to the octanol saturated aqueous buffer. A short column (50 mm \times 4.6 mm) of Supelcosil LC-ABZ was used as support for the octanol liquid phase. Log k_W was used as the parameter correlated with $\log P$ or $\log D$ according

Table 1

Reversed-phase chromatographic systems with similar system constant ratios to the octanol-water partition coefficient

Separation system	Dependent variable	System constant ratios				
		v	e/v	s/v	a/v	b/v
Octanol–water	log P	3.81	0.15	-0.28	0.01	-0.91
Chemically bonded phases Stationary phase: Supelcosil LC-ABZ [58] Mobile phase: methanol-water (30-70% v/v)	$\log k_{\mathrm{W}}$	3.63	0.09	-0.24	-0.08	-0.93
Stationary phase: Nucleosil RP-18 [9] Mobile phase: methanol-water (60-100% v/v)	$\log k_{\mathrm{W}}$	3.66	0.07	-0.22	-0.10	-0.90
Stationary phase: Supelcosil LC-ABZ [59] Mobile phase: methanol-water (30:70)	$\log k$	2.60	0.15	-0.20	0	-0.91
Stationary phase: Supelcosil LC-ABZ [58] Mobile phase: methanol-water (40:60)	$\log k$	2.38	0.11	-0.18	0.08	-0.97
Stationary phase: Hypersil ODS [9] Mobile phase: methanol-water (45:55)	$\log k$	2.53	0.09	-0.24	-0.08	-0.93
Coated phases Stationary phase: Supelcosil LC-ABZ coated with octanol [63] Mobile phase: 20 mM MOPS pH 7.4 saturated with octanol and 15–70% (v/v) methanol containing 0.25% (v/v) octanol	$\log k_{\mathrm{W}}$	3.48	0.12	-0.27	-0.01	-0.89
Stationary phase: silica gel coated with dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine [58] Mobile phase: 10% (v/v) acetonitrile–water	log k	2.68	0.18	-0.16	0.01	-1.03
Thin-layer chromatography Stationary phase: Merck RP-18 F _{245S} Mobile phase: methanol–aqueous buffer pH 7.4 [94]	$R_{ m MW}$	3.60	0.07	-0.18	-0.18	-0.83

to the scheme indicated in Table 2. Computer-calculated values of log *P* or log *D* were used to estimate the appropriate experimental conditions for the determination of log k_W using a three-point linear extrapolation requiring about 20 min per compound. It is possible that the phase ratio is reasonably constant over the mobile phase composition range employed for the extrapolation, and the estimation of log k_W is more accurate than observed for chemically bonded phases. The solvation parameter model was used to demonstrate that the factors contributing to log k_W on the coated column are virtually identical to the octanol–water partition coefficient (Table 1). The correlation models for neutral compounds (log *P*) and neutral and basic compounds (log *D*) have slopes close to 1.0 and are statistically sound

$$\log P = 1.10 (\pm 0.03) \log k_{\rm W} + 0.13 (\pm 0.7),$$

 $n = 36, r^2 = 0.977, \text{ S.E.} = 0.251, F = 1434$ (11)

Table 2

Experimental conditions for the estimation of $\log P$ by reversed-phase liquid chromatography using extrapolated values of $\log k_W$ on an octanol-coated Supelcosil LC-ABZ column

$\log P$ or $\log D$ value	Flow rate (ml/min)	Mobile phase composition (%) (v/v) methanol
-0.5 to 1.0	0.5	15, 20, and 25
1–3	1.0	40, 45, and 50
>3	2.0	60, 65, and 70

 $\log D = 1.13 \,(\pm 0.02) \log k_{\rm W} + 0.21 \,(\pm 0.04),$

 $n = 90, r^2 = 0.964, S.E. = 0.309, F = 2339$ (12)

This method should be suitable for the high throughput estimation of $\log P$ or $\log D$ of neutral and weakly basic compounds, but not acidic compounds (and possibly zwitterions as well). Method accuracy is acceptable ($\approx 0.3 \log$ units) with a throughput of about three compounds per instrument per hour. Stability of the coated liquid phase is a potential problem for unattended operation.

The system constant ratios for silica gel coated with dipalmitoyl phosphatidylcholine with a mobile phase containing 10, 20, or 30% (v/v) acetonitrile-water are similar to the octanol-water partition coefficient (see Table 1) [58]. There are small but significant differences in the s/v and b/v system constant ratios indicating that this is a useful but not exact system for estimation of $\log P$ [66]. In a later study, Hanna et al. [65] coated a reversed-phase column by equilibration in the recycle mode with a 1 mM solution of phosphatidylcholine in 80% (v/v) methanol-water. This column was then used with 40% (v/v) acetonitrile-aqueous buffer (pH 7.4) as mobile phase for the estimation of $\log P$. The fit of the correlation model for the retention factor and $\log P$ was only modest, but the compounds included in the model contained several that were partially ionized. Removal of acids from the correlation improved the fit. Neither the average error in the estimated $\log P$ values nor the typical time for a measurement is indicated by the authors. The slope of the log *P* against log *k* plot for non-acidic compounds is significantly larger than one (≈ 2.38) indicating that the factors contributing to the chromatographic retention are different to those for the octanol–water partition coefficient. Improved results were obtained by combining the liquid chromatographic retention factor with the retention factor determined by MEKC. This approach, however, seems unnecessary complex and time consuming for general use in a high throughput laboratory.

Micellar liquid chromatography is a variant of reversedphase chromatography, which uses a surfactant above its critical micelle concentration in an aqueous or aqueous-organic solvent as mobile phase [27,67]. Aqueous mobile phases with (sometimes) a small amount of organic solvent, such as 2-propanol, as an additive to improve the mass transfer properties of the system, were used predominantly for the estimation of $\log P$ [67–71]. In most cases, the surfactant was sodium dodecyl sulfate or tetradecyltrimethylammonium bromide. Retention in micellar liquid chromatography depends on the simultaneous distribution of sample between surfactant micelles and the surrounding aqueous solution occurring in the mobile phase and between the mobile phase and the surfactant modified stationary phase. The retention factor is described by

$$\frac{1}{k} = \frac{1}{k_{\rm m}} + \left(\frac{K_{\rm AM}}{k_{\rm m}}\right) [{\rm M}],\tag{13}$$

where $k_{\rm m}$ is the retention factor at zero micelle concentration (k at a surfactant monomer concentration equal to the critical micelle concentration), KAM the solute-micelle binding constant and [M] the total concentration of surfactant in the mobile phase minus the critical micelle concentration. Plots of k or $\log k$ against $\log P$ are often curved, particularly if high values of $\log P$ are included. These plots are of limited use for estimating log P. Values for $k_{\rm m}$ and $K_{\rm AM}$ can be determined from the slope and intercept of the plot of 1/k against [M]. The values for K_{AM} and k_m are generally correlated but $\log k_{\rm m}$ often provides a better fit with $\log P$ than does $\log K_{AM}$. To some extent, this may reflect the choice of surfactants commonly used in micellar liquid chromatography. From the more extensive data available for MEKC, it will be shown that some micellar systems are excellent models for the octanol-water partition coefficient (see Section 3.4), but these have been rarely used in micellar liquid chromatography. In addition, a number of separations with different values of [M] are required to establish $k_{\rm m}$. This is time consuming and barely compatible with the requirements for high throughput methods. Sorption of the surfactant by the stationary phase results in the creation of a dynamic ion exchanger resulting in anomalous retention for ionized compounds with a poor fit to $\log P$ models containing neutral compounds. It is difficult to measure $k_{\rm m}$ for every hydrophobic compounds owing to the near-zero intercept in the 1/k against [M] plots. Although micellar liquid chromatography uses the same equipment and columns as conventional reversed-phase chromatography, the presence of high surfactant concentrations in the mobile phase increases the requirement for system maintenance.

A disadvantage of isocratic separations by liquid chromatography for high throughput methods is that for some compounds retention will be either insufficient for an accurate determination of the retention factors or too long to allow measurement in an acceptable time. Columns of different length and/or variation of flow rates can afford a partial solution to this problem, but often require preliminary experiments or reliance on computation methods to predict which set of conditions to use for each sample. Although, it is possible to implement such procedures they are inconvenient for screening compound libraries generally provide in a multiwell plate format. For analysis, gradient elution is commonly specified for the separation of samples with a wide range of retention properties [27]. Generic gradient methods are also widely used in the pharmaceutical industry for screening compound libraries for purity determination [7]. The application of these methods for the high throughput estimation of $\log P$ is an obvious extension of what has become standard practice for many laboratories. For linear solvent strength gradients in reversed-phase chromatography the gradient retention time is related to isocratic separation conditions by Eq. (14) [27,72–77]

$$t_{\rm g} = C + \left(\frac{t_{\rm M}}{b}\right) \log k_{\rm o},\tag{14}$$

where t_g is the gradient retention time, t_M the column hold-up time, *b* the gradient steepness parameter, log k_0 the isocratic retention factor for the mobile phase at the start of the gradient, and *C* is a rather complex system constant. The derivation of Eq. (14) assumes that $2.3bk_0 \gg 1$, a reasonable assumption for some but not all conditions, and the ratio (t_M/b) is compound independent, which is generally untrue. The second assumption is a source of compound-dependent retention dispersion compared with independent measurements of isocratic log k_0 values [74]. When the gradient starts from water log k_0 provides an estimate of log k_w and t_g becomes a more conveniently determined surrogate parameter for log k_W .

Valko and coworkers [78–82] have described the use of short columns and fast gradients for the determination of a chromatographic hydrophobicity index (CHI), which can be correlated with log *P* or used as an independent measure of hydrophobicity. These authors assume that in a fast gradient separation each compound migrates as an unretained peak when the appropriate organic solvent concentration reaches the top of the column. Their approach is an extension of an isocratic hydrophobicity scale, ϕ_0 , to gradient elution conditions. The parameter ϕ_0 is defined as the percent by volume of acetonitrile required to achieve an equal distribution of compound between the mobile and stationary phases, corresponding to a retention factor of one in an isocratic mobile phase. It is assumed that Eq. (7) provides a realistic model of the retention process, and for $\log k = 1$, $\phi_0 = -\log k_W/S$. By determining the gradient elution time in a linear solvent gradient for a series of standards with experimentally determined isocratic values for ϕ_0 , the gradient retention times and the CHI can be placed on the same scale by establishing the coefficients A and B in Eq. (15)

$$CHI = At_g + B \tag{15}$$

Once the regression model is established for the standard compounds, the CHI for any compound can be calculated from its retention time in the same gradient system. The CHI is a system property and depends on the identity of the stationary phase, the type of organic modifier and for ionizable compounds the pH of the mobile phase. Thus, the CHI can be considered a high throughput method since typical gradient cycle times are 15 min for a 15 cm column [78] or 5 min for a 5 cm column [81]. Calibration of the separation system minimizes the effect of variations in gradient elution times on different columns of the same kind and for different instruments. The three hydrophobicity parameters for a separation system (log k_W , ϕ_0 , CHI) are significantly correlated with each other but are not identical [79]. Each parameter is also moderately correlated to $\log P$, but the fit to a linear model (e.g. Eq. (4)) depends on compound identity. One source of general disagreement is associated with differences between the real system and the assumptions used for the derivation of the linear solvent strength model. The second problem is that to be a successful model for the estimation of $\log P$ the fundamental characteristics of the separation system that explain retention must be strongly correlated with those responsible for partition in the octanol-water system. This requirement is no different to the situation for isocratic models and the failure of the CHI to model $\log P$ with the desired accuracy can be laid at the same door. A comparison of the system properties with those of the octanol-water partition coefficient can be made using the solvation parameter model (see Table 3) [79–81]. The system constant ratios for the systems employed by Valko and coworkers [78-82] are similar in character but different to the octanol-water partition coefficient. In particular, the a/v ratio for $\log P$ is close to zero so that $\log P$ is virtually insensitive to solute hydrogen-bond acidity whereas all the chromatographic systems are significantly influenced by solute hydrogen-bond acidity. Changing the organic solvent for the mobile phase from acetonitrile to methanol only resulted in a CHI scale further removed from the properties of the octanol-water partition coefficient. The best model for estimating $\log P$ from the CHI is obtained by including an additional term to account for the difference in solute hydrogen-bond acidity that requires computer estimated values for the A solute descriptor when these are unavailable from experimental sources [81].

 $\log P = 0.054 \text{ (CHI)} + 1.35A - 1.88,$ $n = 86, r^2 = 0.941, \text{ S.E.} = 0.29, F = 655$ (16) This model allow $\log P$ for neutral compounds to be estimated to about 0.30 log units, but computational techniques for estimating solute descriptors are not well developed at present, and values for all structures may not be available, and in other cases some predictions will be inaccurate. An improvement in the general model for $\log P$ was obtained by including an index for the hydrogen-bond count, HBC (the number of hydrogens on the molecule that are able to form hydrogen bonds) [81]

$$\log P = 0.047 \text{ (CHI)} + 0.36 \text{ (HBC)} - 1.10,$$

 $n = 86, r^2 = 0.889, \text{ S.E.} = 0.39, F = 336$ (17)

Eq. (17) is certainly not as good as Eq. (16) for estimating $\log P$, but as long as the compound structure is known a value for the hydrogen-bond count would be available. Even so, with a typical uncertainty in estimated values of $\log P$ of 0.39 log units, there are better methods available for estimating $\log P$.

Donovan and Pescatore [83] proposed a high throughput gradient method for estimating $\log P$ using a short $(2 \text{ cm} \times 4.6 \text{ mm i.d.})$ column packed with a porous polymer (poly(vinyl alcohol) esterified with octadecyl groups) and a gradient from $10 \rightarrow 100\%$ (v/v) methanol over 7 min. Aqueous buffers of pH 2, 10, or 13 were used to ensure compounds were separated in their neutral form. Toluene and triphenylene were added to each sample as internal standards to minimize variation in gradient retention times from run-to-run and instrument-to-instrument. The internal standards also facilitated scaling of the gradient retention times to force the slope of the model to one and intercept to zero. The method is described as providing fair accuracy and good precision for compounds with $\log P$ values between 2 and 6. There is good reason to believe that the results are no better than for other gradient methods. The system constants for the stationary phase ($\log k_W$ as the dependent variable) are significantly different to those for the octanol-water partition coefficient, particularly for compounds with significant hydrogen-bond acidity [9]. The descriptive statistics for the fit of the estimated $\log P$ values to their literature values is only modest (n = 120, S.E. = 0.43, $r^2 = 0.884$ and F = 875).

3.3. Reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography

The separation mechanism for thin-layer chromatography is the same as for liquid chromatography, and thus, it is reasonable to anticipate that the limitations identified in liquid chromatography apply equally to thin-layer chromatography. This is certainly true in part, except that the structure and bonding density of the stationary phases used for reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography are optimized in a different manner to those used in column liquid chromatography to promote acceptable flow of the mobile phase by capillary forces [27,84,85].

Table 3 Gradient elution reversed-phase chromatographic systems for estimating $\log P$

Separation system	Dependent variable	System constant ratios					
		v e/v		s/v	a/v	b/v	
Octanol-water	$\log P$	3.81	0.15	-0.28	0.01	-0.91	
Chemically bonded phases Stationary phase: Inertsil ODS2-1K5 [79] Gradient: $0 \rightarrow 100$ acetonitrile over 9 min Aqueous buffer pH 2.6, 7.3, or 9.5	СНІ	68.4	0.05	-0.19	-0.42	-1.05	
Stationary phase: IAM PC2 [80] Gradient: $0 \rightarrow 100$ acetonitrile over 9 min Aqueous buffer pH 2, 5.7, 6.1, or 7.4	СНІ	50.7	0.15	-0.17	0.14	-1.04	
Stationary phase: Luna C-18(2) [81] Gradient: $0 \rightarrow 100$ acetonitrile over 2.5 min Aqueous buffer pH 2, 7.4, or 10.5	СНІ	67.7	0.07	-0.23	-0.35	-0.97	
Stationary phase: Luna C-18(2) [81] Gradient: $0 \rightarrow 100$ methanol over 2.5 min Aqueous buffer pH 2, 7.4, or 10.5	СНІ	52.2	0.04	-0.17	-0.17	-0.85	

Thin-layer chromatography has several attractive features for high throughput methods. Samples are separated in parallel and accessible for chemical reactions for convenient detection of compounds lacking a chromophore. Cost considerations are favorable and modern instrumentation affords a high level of automation and data processing capabilities. Although it should be noted that retention in thin-layer chromatography is affected by several parameters that need to be standardized to obtain reproducible results [27,85–87]. If separations are performed carelessly the data obtained can be unacceptable for modeling purposes. Early studies of the use of reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography for estimating $\log P$ are reviewed elsewhere [87–92]. In this section the role of the solvation parameter model for identifying suitable models for estimating $\log P$ is discussed as well as prospects for further use [9,93].

Many of the thin-layer chromatographic methods proposed for estimating log P are restricted to small data sets of compounds with similar properties. An important exception is the study by Dross et al. [87], which was re-evaluated by Abraham et al. [94] using the solvation parameter model. Dross proposed the use of the $R_{\rm MW}$ value obtained by extrapolation from methanol-water mobile phase compositions to estimate log P. Abraham showed that the retention properties captured by the R_{MW} values was similar to those of the octanol-water partition coefficient but not identical to it (Table 1). Similar to the results presented for reversed-phase column chromatography, the hydrogen-bonding properties of the system show the largest deviation from those for the octanol-water partition system. This explains why the correlation between $R_{\rm MW}$ and $\log P$ for a varied group of compounds is only modest

$$R_{\rm MW} = -0.040 + 0.974 \log P,$$

$$n = 78, \ r^2 = 0.963, \ S.E. = 0.267, \ F = 1992$$
(18)

Table 4

Reversed-phase thin-layer chromatographic systems in the database of system constants

Layers (Merck HPTLC)	Solvent system	Reference
RP-18 WF 254s	Methanol (0–90% v/v)	[95]
	2-Propnaol (0-70% v/v)	[95]
	2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol (0-50% v/v)	[95]
	Acetone (0-90% v/v)	[95]
	N,N-Dimethylformamide (0-60% v/v)	[95]
	Pyridine (0-50% v/v)	[98]
	Acetonitrile (0-80% v/v)	[95]
	Water	[95]
CN F 254s	Methanol (0-90% v/v)	[96]
	2-Propanol (0-80% v/v)	[96]
	2,2,2-Trifluoroethanol (0-80% v/v)	[96]
	Acetone (0-80% v/v)	[96]
	N,N-Dimethylformamide (0-80% v/v)	[96]
	Pyridine (0-50% v/v)	[98]
	Acetonitrile (0-80% v/v)	[96]
	Water	[96]
	Methanol + acetonitrile ternary mixtures	[97]
DIOL F 254s	Methanol (0-50% v/v)	[98]
	Acetone (0-60% v/v)	[98]
	Water	[98]

Aromatic and nitrogen heterocyclic bases were significant outliers and had to be excluded from the correlation model. Thus, Eq. (18) is restricted to neutral compounds with low proton basicity and cannot be considered a general model.

A large database of system constants for reversed-phase thin-layer chromatography with a wide range of mobile phases is available (see Table 4) [9,95–98]. This database can be searched for chromatographic systems that have properties correlated with $\log P$ (see Table 5). No system is an exact match for $\log P$. Several are similar to $\log P$ but have an incorrect contribution from solute dipolarity/polarizability

S.K. Poole, C.F. Poole / J. Chromatogr. B 797 (2003) 3-19

Stationary phase	Mobile phase (% v/v)	System constant ratios						
		v	e/v	s/v	a/v	b/v		
Octanol	Water	3.81	0.15	-0.28	0.01	-0.91		
Merck RP-18	20% Dimethylformamide	1.68	0.21	-0.11	-0.14	-0.86		
	30% Dimethylformamide	v/v) System constant ratios v e/v s/v a/v 3.81 0.15 -0.28 0 mamide 1.68 0.21 -0.11 -0 mamide 1.44 0.16 -0.14 -0 mamide 1.44 0.16 -0.14 -0 mamide 0.80 0.26 -0.18 0 1.41 0 -0.15 0 0 2.31 0.17 0 0 0 2.05 0.17 0 0 0 2.24 0.20 0 0 0	-0.15	-0.93				
	60% Dimethylformamide	0.80	0.26	-0.18	0	-0.84		
	15% Pyridine	1.41	0	-0.15	0	-0.87		
Merck CN	30% Methanol	1.72	0.24	0	0	-0.92		
	10% 2-Propanol	2.31	0.17	0	0	-0.87		
	20% 2-Propanol	2.05	0.17	0	0	-0.95		
	10% Acetonitrile	2.24	0.20	0	0	-0.90		

Table 5 System constant ratios for reversed-phase thin-layer separation systems with properties similar to the octanol-water partition coefficient

Dependent variable, R_M.

(s/v) or hydrogen-bond acidity (a/v). Thus, several of these systems could be used to estimate $\log P$ for compounds that are either weakly dipolar/polarizable or hydrogen-bond acidic but none are suitable for estimating $\log P$ for a varied group of compounds.

3.4. Micellar, microemulsion and vesicle electrokinetic chromatography

The prospects for identifying suitable micellar or microemulsion electrokinetic separation models for esti-

Table 6

Surfactant system for micellar, microemulsion, and vesicle electrokinetic chromatography

Surfactant	Abbreviation	System constant ratios				
		v	e/v	s/v	a/v	b/v
Octanol-water partition coefficient		3.81	0.15	-0.28	0.01	-0.91
Alkane sulfates and sulfonates						
Sodium octyl sulfate	SOS	2.85	0.16	-0.11	-0.04	-0.66
Sodium decyl sulfate	SDecS	2.69	0.12	-0.09	0	-0.59
Sodium dodecyl sulfate	SDS	2.98	0.12	-0.14	-0.08	-0.64
Sodium dodecyl sulfonate (36 °C)	SDSu	2.84	0.12	-0.15	-0.01	-0.63
Sodium tetradecyl sulfate $(35 ^{\circ}\text{C})$	STS	3.01	0.09	-0.11	-0.06	-0.60
Sodium N-lauroyl-N-methyltaurine	SLMT	2.88	0.18	-0.12	0.14	-0.82
Sodium N-dodecanoyl-N-methyltaurine	SDMT	3.07	0.23	-0.16	0.07	-0.84
Bile acids						
Sodium cholate	SC	2.45	0.26	-0.19	0	-0.93
Sodium deoxycholate	SDC	2.67	0.25	-0.18	0	-0.93
Sodium taurocholate	STC	2.43	0.25	-0.14	0	-0.85
Sodium taurodeoxycholate	STDC	2.62	0.26	-0.17	0	-0.83
Miscellaneous anionic surfactants						
Sodium N-lauroylsarcosinate	SLN	2.98	0.14	-0.12	0.15	-0.78
Sodium N-myristoylsarcosinate	SMN	2.99	0.16	-0.14	0.15	-0.82
Sodium dodecoxycarbonylvaline	SDCV	2.99	0.14	-0.19	0.05	-0.81
Sodium lauryl sulfoacetate (36 °C)	SLSA	2.97	0.16	-0.13	0.04	-0.82
Cationic surfactants						
Tetradecyltrimethylammonium bromide	TTAB	2.99	0.10	-0.07	0.29	-0.91
Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide	CTMAB	3.40	0.18	-0.16	0.17	-0.91
Microemulsion						
1.44% (w/w) SDS + 6.49% (w/w) butan-1-ol + 0.82% (w/w) heptane						
pH 7.0		3.05	0.09	-0.23	-0.02	-0.92
pH 10		2.24	0.16	-0.23	0	-0.88
pH 3		2.16	0.19	-0.23	0	-0.93
Vesicles						
Bis(2-ethylhexyl)sodium sulfosuccinate (40 mM) + 10% methanol	AOT	3.09	0.11	-0.14	0	-0.98
Hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide-sodium octyl sulfate (30:70) total mass 1.8% (w/w)	CTAMB-SOS	2.85	0.19	-0.20	0.08	-1.14

mating $\log P$ are excellent. This is demonstrated by the system constant ratios for representative separation systems summarized in Table 6 [9.25]. Sodium dodecvl sulfate is the most popular surfactant for MEKC and was among the first surfactants used for estimating $\log P$ by MEKC [99-107]. Its modest success is explained by the large difference in hydrogen-bond basicity, and to a lesser extent, dipolarity/polarizability, for partition into sodium dodecyl sulfate micelles compared with the octanol-water partition system. A better model is provided by sodium N-dodeconyl-N-methyltaurine, although this surfactant has not been used to estimate $\log P$ [108]. As a group, the bile salts posses favorable properties for estimating $\log P$, and several of these surfactants have been used for this purpose [65,103,105,106,108,109]. Cationic surfactants studied so far possess the wrong blend of hydrogen-bond basicity and dipolarity/polarizability to provide suitable models for estimating $\log P$ [103,108,110]. The microemulsion prepared from sodium dodecyl sulfate, butan-1-ol and heptane has virtually identical system constant ratios to $\log P$ and is widely used as a separation model for estimating $\log P$ [109,111–117]. Mixed surfactant micelles and inclusion of organic solvents in the separation buffer allows fine tuning of the separation properties of ionic micelles, increasing the number of available separation systems suitable for estimating $\log P$ (see Table 7) [118–120].

Vesicles are self-assembling, organized structures with a continuous bilayer of monomers enclosing an aqueous core region used as potential synthetic membrane models. Synthetic vesicles can be formed from oppositely charged surfactants and double-chained anionic surfactants (see Table 6) [121,122]. Synthetic vesicles formed from bis(2-ethylhexyl)sodium sulfosuccinate in a phosphate buffer containing 10% (v/v) methanol and the mixed surfactant hexadecyltrimethylammonium bromide-sodium octyl sulfate provide suitable separation models for estimating $\log P$ [122]. The hydrogen bond acidity of the mixed surfactant vesicle is slightly different to the octanol-water partition system while the bis(2-ethylhexyl)sodium sulfosuccinate-aqueous methanol system is a better fit overall (see Table 6). Both systems, however, were suitable for estimating $\log P$ for a varied group of neutral compounds to about 0.23 log units.

To summarize, there are numerous micellar, microemulsion, and vesicle electrokinetic chromatographic systems that might be used to estimate $\log P$, and several provide (nearly) equivalent results. Consequently, there is little need to explore all possible systems. Several groups found the microemulsion discussed below suitable for estimating $\log P$. It is a stable, easy to prepare and use separation system with partitioning properties for neutral compounds almost identical to the octanol–water partition system.

The microemulsion containing sodium dodecyl sulfate 1.4% (w/w), *n*-butanol 6.49% (w/w), and *n*-heptane 0.82% (w/w) in an aqueous 0.05 M sodium phosphate–0.1 M sodium borate pH = 7 buffer was introduced by Ishihama and co-workers for the estimation of log *P* for neutral and weakly basic compounds [110,111]. Abraham and co-workers used the solvation parameter model to confirm that retention in the microemulsion system was strongly correlated with the octanol–water partition system [113].

Table 7

Affect of the concentration of non-ionic surfactant (Brij[®] 35) and organic solvent on system properties in MEKC

Concentration			System co	nstant ratios			
Brij [®] 35 (mM)	Solvent	% v/v	\overline{v}	e/v	s/v	a/v	b/v
Sodium N-dodecanoy	1-N-methyltaurine (50 mM)						
0			3.07	0.23	-0.16	0.07	-0.84
5			3.07	0.25	-0.18	0.07	-0.89
12			3.20	0.23	-0.16	0.09	-0.90
20			3.08	0.23	-0.14	0.09	-0.92
30			3.17	0.22	-0.14	0.10	-0.92
40			3.00	0.19	-0.12	0.08	-0.94
50			3.09	0.19	-0.12	0.11	-0.96
20	Acetonitrile	5	3.21	0.21	-0.15	0.10	-0.90
20		10	2.80	0.25	-0.16	0.10	-1.01
20		15	2.57	0.19	-0.18	0	-0.89
20		20	2.20	0.16	-0.13	0	-0.97
20	Methanol	20	2.64	0.21	-0.13	0.11	-0.95
20	Propan-2-ol	20	2.40	0.20	-0.18	0	-0.92
20	Tetrahydrofuran	20	2.34	0.27	-0.15	0	-1.00
Sodium dodecyl sulfa	ate (50 mM)						
10			3.00	0.21	-0.14	0	-0.88
15			2.67	0.25	-0.14	0	-0.98
20			2.80	0.28	-0.14	0	-0.96
25			3.06	0.23	-0.14	0.07	-0.94
35			3.08	0.24	-0.14	0.08	-0.96

The model obtained for 53 varied neutral and weakly basic compounds is given below

$$\log P = 1.28 \log k + 1.54,$$

 $n = 53, r^2 = 0.996, \text{ S.E.} = 0.096, F = 5738$ (19)

and allowed $\log P$ to be estimated to about 0.1 log units. Gluck and co-workers extended the method to a wider range of weakly acidic and basic compounds using electrolyte solutions buffered to pH 12 and 1.19 [114]. Separations with the pH 1.19 buffer required operation with a negative (reversed) potential resulting in loss of information for the electro-osmotic flow marker required for calculation of retention factors. This had to be determined in a separate experiment at pH 1.19 with a positive potential. This is not convenient for high throughput measurements. In addition, the high ionic strength of the pH 1.19 buffer resulted in poor peak shapes. Poole and coworkers introduced sulfonic acid coated capillary columns for the estimation of $\log P$ of weakly acidic compounds with a pH 3 buffer and overpressure at the inlet vial to reduce the separation time [109]. For a varied group of weakly acidic and neutral compounds at pH 3 and 30°C the following correlation model was obtained

$$\log P = 1.46 \,(\pm 0.06) \log k + 1.46 \,(\pm 0.06),$$

$$n = 42, \ r = 0.971, \ \text{S.E.} = 0.28, \ F = 652$$
(20)

and for neutral and weakly basic compounds determined at pH 10 and 30 $^{\circ}$ C with an uncoated fused-silica capillary column

$$\log P = 1.60 (\pm 0.06) \log k + 1.35 (\pm 0.05),$$

 $n = 45, r = 0.979, \text{ S.E.} = 0.27, F = 991$ (21)

The difference in the slope and intercept for the two calibration models arises from the fact that the system constants for the two separation systems are slightly different at pH 3 and 10. A second set of 29 varied compounds not included in the calibration set was used to validate the model for neutral and weakly basic compounds (see Fig. 1). The compounds covered the log *P* range 0.3–5.8 and the difference between estimated log *P* values and accepted literature values was



Fig. 1. Plot of literature $\log P$ against estimated $\log P$ for a group of varied neutral and basic compounds by microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography at pH 10. (With permission from Poole et al. [109].)

 $\pm 0.12 \log$ units with an average R.S.D. in estimated $\log P$ values of 4.3% (n = 10). This method is suitable for the high throughput estimation of $\log P$ to about 0.30 log units with a cycle time of about 30 min per sample. Unattended and overnight operation is fully supported.

Klotz and coworkers used a microemuslsion with a slightly different composition (2.16% (w/w) sodium dodecyl sulfate, 6.49% (w/w) n-butanol and 0.82% (w/w) *n*-heptane) to the system described above to estimate $\log P$ for neutral and weakly basic compounds at pH 7 [117]. The relative concentration of sodium dodecyl sulfate was increased to extend the migration window to obtain a higher peak capacity. This is of less interest for high throughput measurements since samples are typically single compounds or simple mixtures. This system might be useful, however, for estimating $\log P$ at either extreme of the $\log P$ range by improving the separation of the sample from the electro-osmotic flow and microemulsion phase marker compounds. Marker compounds are added to the separation system for calculation of retention factors. For a varied group of (mainly) neutral compounds including 80 pesticides with a range of $\log P$ values between -1 and 7 the correlation model obtained was

log
$$P = 1.90 (\pm 0.03) \log k + 1.18 (\pm 0.05),$$

 $n = 119, r^2 = 0.968, \text{ S.E.} = 0.31$ (22)

The separation efficiency of microemulsion electrokinetic chromatography (MEEKC) is significantly higher than for column liquid chromatography and the preparation of microemulsions is expected to be more reproducible than the synthesis of chemically bonded sorbents for liquid chromatography. In addition, all compounds elute in a fixed migration window in MEEKC and, therefore, gradient separation conditions or problem extrapolation methods are not required. This facilitates automated and unattended operation. MEEKC (and MEKC), however, is only suitable for estimating $\log P$ of neutral compounds or weak acids and bases after ion suppression. Ionized compounds are subject to additional electrophoretic migration and electrostatic interactions with the charged components of the separation system that affect retention but are unrelated to the partition mechanism for neutral compounds between the oily phase of the microemulsion and the aqueous buffer. In addition, retention factors for ionized compounds are not expected to correlate with $\log D$. Correction for the electrophoretic component of the retention factor is possible, but is not straightforward, or easily incorporated into high throughput methods [105,108,109]. The retention factor for partially ionized compounds is restated as

$$k = \frac{\mu_{\rm a} - \mu_{\rm eff}}{\mu_{\rm eff} - \mu_{\rm M}},\tag{23}$$

where μ_a and μ_M are the electrophoretic mobility of the solute in the aqueous phase and the oily phase of the microemulsion, respectively, and μ_{eff} is the effective mobility

of the solute in the microemulsion solution. Of these parameters, μ_{eff} and μ_M can be determined in a single MEEKC separation, but μ_a must be determined in a separate and independent capillary electrophoretic separation. The separation conditions for measurement of μ_a must be close to those used for the microemulsion separation without the presence of the oily phase. For the type of varied and complex structures encountered in industrial research calculation methods for μ_a are unfortunately unavailable.

4. Indirect methods using experimentally determined solute descriptors

In previous sections, we have shown that the solvation parameter model affords a useful method for identifying separation systems that provide suitable models for estimating log P without resorting to largely unproductive trial and error experiments. Since the system constants of the solvation parameter model for $\log P$ are reliably established, an alternative approach to estimate $\log P$ is to determine the solute descriptors for each compound for which an estimate of $\log P$ is required. Five solute descriptors for each compound are required for this purpose (see Eq. (5)). The descriptor V is calculated quite simply from the molecular formula and the number of rings in the molecule and the descriptor Eeither from the observed or calculated refractive index for the compound [17,25,26,29]. The remaining descriptors (S, A, and B), however, must be found from experiment. These descriptors are usually determined from a series of solute property models with established system constants in a process analogous to that used to determine system constants or by alternative mathematical models. Suitable solute properties include liquid-liquid partition, chromatographic retention, solubility, etc. [17,26,33]. A minimum of three systems with properties as different as possible are required to obtain reliable descriptors. For statistical evaluation and error protection, additional systems are beneficial. This is a disadvantage for high throughput methods, since it requires several different and independent experimental measurements to estimate the solute descriptors. Even if these tasks are performed in parallel, it represents increased work and capital outlay compared with methods that estimate $\log P$ from a single experiment. There are two factors, however, which suggest that these objections may be a lower barrier in the future than at present.

Although log P is widely used in many QSAR models to estimate critical properties for evaluation of activity, toxicity, environmental fate, transport properties, etc., most of these models exhibit only modest predictive ability and/or possess a narrow application range [8,9,16,42,123]. This is not too surprising given the chemical diversity of the systems modeled and it is somewhat illogical to expect a single descriptor to fit all situations. The solvation parameter model accommodates system diversity by changes in the system constants for each model, while all models use the same set of solute descriptors. The greatest single advantage of the solute descriptor method is that once the descriptors are known a wide range of partition and related processes can be predicted directly. Contemporary applications include such diverse processes as the prediction of aqueous solubility [124], blood-brain distribution and permeation [125–127], human intestine absorption [127–129], skin permeation [126,130], uptake of organic compounds by cells in culture [131], nasal pungency and eye irritation thresholds [42], non-specific toxicity to fish [132] and microorganisms [133], and soil–water adsorption [14]. In virtually all these studies, $\log P$ was found to be either a poor or modest model for the estimated property compared with the solvation parameter model.

The objections to the use of solute descriptors for high throughput property estimations would disappear entirely if calculation methods based on structure for S. A. and B were available. Platts and co-workers used the database of known descriptor values to identify common substructures and relevant intramolecular interactions and evaluated their contribution to each descriptor [30]. The final model used 81 fragment values for E, S, and B with a separate set of 51 fragments for calculation of A. Errors of -0.5 to $0.15 \log$ units (for values covering a range of 2-6 log units) were found. This has to be compared with the typical error of 0.03units in experimental values for A and B. The commercially available software Absolv for Windows PCs (Sirius Analytical Instruments; http://www.sirius-analytical.com) estimates solute descriptors by this approach. The generality of the method is limited, however, by the lack of experimental data for important fragments. If a fragment is not present in the database then no values can be assigned. Calculations employing quantum mechanics were explored with some success to estimate descriptor values for fragments not present in the database [134,135]. The error for these estimated descriptor fragments is still relatively large compared with experimental values. Platts and co-workers used software-derived descriptors to predict $\log P$ for a data set of over 8000 compounds [31]. The accuracy of the predictions was stated to be at about the middle for a number of software products available for calculation of $\log P$ from structure. This tends to confirm that current methods for calculating descriptors from molecular structure lack the accuracy and application range to render experimental methods redundant for the time being. In fact, one method of improving predictive methods is to assemble further experimental values for molecules with greater structural diversity than those represented at present in the descriptor database. Thus, in the near term, the experimental determination of solute descriptors for molecules of a wide structural diversity will be of increasing importance. Finally, it is hoped that calculation methods for descriptors can be improved to the point that they will replace experimental methods. This is important for lowering the cost of property estimations in a high throughput environment; for screening virtual compound libraries to eliminate poor synthetic targets; and to obtain values for highly reactive compounds otherwise difficult or impossible to study by conventional experimental techniques.

5. Conclusions

Separation methods have many favorable qualities for the high throughput estimation of the octanol-water partition coefficient. They are fast, robust, require little material that need not be pure, economical, and use automated equipment commonly found in analytical laboratories. The principal requirement for the development of robust methods for a wide range of compound types is that the fundamental properties of the separation system responsible for retention are highly correlated with the same properties responsible for partition in the octanol-water system. For neutral compounds the solvation parameter model provides a powerful tool to identify suitable separation systems conforming to this requirement. A significant outcome of this approach is that reversed-phase column and thin-layer chromatography provide a poor choice of separation systems because the system properties that control retention are quite different to those responsible for partitioning in the octanol-water system. By contrast, among the micellar and microemulsion systems used for electrokinetic chromatography many suitable separation systems with properties similar to the octanol-water partition system can be found. In particular, the fundamental properties responsible for partitioning in the electrolyte solution-microemulsion phase containing sodium dodecyl sulfate, n-butanol, and n-heptane fit the need almost exactly for a correlation model for the octanol-water partition system. Future developments will probably include less dependence on $\log P$ as a single descriptor for property estimations in favor of a suite of models tailored to individual distribution and transport properties based on the solvation parameter model. Emphasis will change to focus on the requirements for high throughput experimental and calculation methods to estimate solute descriptors for use in the solvation parameter model. The solvation parameter model itself could be made more useful by incorporating an additional descriptor or descriptors to allow the conjoint prediction of properties for neutral and ionized compounds.

6. Nomenclature

- *a* contribution of hydrogen-bond basicity to system properties
- *A* effective solute hydrogen-bond acidity
- *b* contribution of hydrogen-bond acidity to system properties
- *B* effective solute hydrogen-bond basicity
- *e* contribution of electron lone pair interactions to system properties
- log *k* logarithm of the chromatographic retention factor in liquid chromatography and micellar electrokinetic chromatography

- *E* solute excess molar refraction
- $\log D$ logarithm of the octanol-water partition coefficient when the compound participates in a secondary chemical equilibrium in either or both phases (e.g. ionization, aggregation, ion pair formation, etc.)
- $\log k_{\rm W}$ logarithm of the chromatographic retention factor resulting from the extrapolation of $\log k$ values to zero organic solvent for binary mobile phase mixtures in liquid chromatography.
- log *P* logarithm of the octanol–water partition coefficient for a neutral substance or an ionizable substance in its neutral form.
- pK_a negative logarithm of the acid–base dissociation constant
- $R_{\rm F}$ retardation factor for thin-layer chromatography
- $\begin{array}{l} R_{\rm M} & \log\left[\frac{1-R_{\rm F}}{R_{\rm F}}\right] \\ s & \text{contribution of diag} \end{array}$
- s contribution of dipole-type interactions to system properties
- *S* solute dipolarity/polarizability
- *v* difference in cohesion and dispersion interactions between two condensed phases
- V McGowan's characteristic volume

References

- [1] F. Darvas, G. Dorman, A. Papp, J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 40 (2000) 314.
- [2] E.H. Kerns, J. Pharm. Sci. 90 (2001) 1838.
- [3] C.A. Lipinski, F. Lombardo, B.W. Dominy, P.J. Feeney, Adv. Drug Delivery Rev. 46 (2001) 3.
- [4] C.J. Van Leeuwen, J.L.M. Hermens, Risk Assessment of Chemicals. An Introduction, Kluwer Academic, Dordrecht, 1995.
- [5] R.S. Boethling, D. Mackay, Handbook of Property Estimations Methods for Chemicals, Environmental and Health Sciences, Lewis, Boca Raton, FL, 2000.
- [6] G.M. Rand (Ed.), Fundamentals of Aquatic Toxicology: Effects, Environmental Fate, and Risk Assessment, Taylor & Francis, Washington, DC, 1995.
- [7] K. Valko (Ed.), Separation Methods in Drug Synthesis and Purification, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2000.
- [8] C. Hansch, A. Leo, Exploring QSAR Fundamentals and Applications in Chemistry and Biology, American Chemical Society, Washington, DC, 1995.
- [9] C.F. Poole, A.D. Gunatilleka, S.K. Poole, Adv. Chromatogr. 40 (2000) 159.
- [10] J.G. Dorsey, M.G. Khaledi, J. Chromatogr. A 656 (1993) 469.
- [11] W.J. Lambert, J. Chromatogr. A 656 (1993) 469.
- [12] C.L. Russom, S.P. Bradbury, S.J. Broderius, D.E. Hammermeister, R.A. Drummond, Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 16 (1997) 948.
- [13] B.N. Woodrow, J.G. Dorsey, Environ. Sci. Technol. 31 (1997) 2812.
- [14] S.K. Poole, C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 845 (1999) 381.
- [15] L. Ramos, J.J. Vreuls, U.A.T. Brinkman, L.E. Sojo, Environ. Sci. Technol. 33 (1999) 3254.
- [16] J. Sangster, Octanol-water Partition Coefficients: Fundamentals and Physical Chemistry, Wiley, New York, NY, 1997.
- [17] V. Pliska, B. Testa, H. van de Waterbeemed (Eds.), Lipophilicity in Drug Action and Toxicology, VCH, Weinheim, 1995.
- [18] G.L. Biagi, M. Recanatini, A.M. Barbaro, P.A. Borea, Process Control Qual. 10 (1997) 129.

- [19] L.-G. Danielsson, Y.-H. Zhang, Trends Anal. Chem. 15 (1996) 188.
- [20] J.T. Andersson, W. Schrader, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 3610.
- [21] W. Schrader, J.T. Andersson, J. Pharm. Sci. 90 (2001) 1948.
- [22] K. Carlsson, B. Karlberg, Anal. Chim. Acta 423 (2000) 137.
- [23] L. Hitzel, A.P. Watt, K.L. Locker, Pharm. Res. 17 (2000) 1389.
- [24] D.M. Wilson, X. Wang, E. Walsh, R.A. Rourick, Comb. Chem. High Throughput Screening 4 (2001) 511.
- [25] C.F. Poole, S.K. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 965 (2002) 263.
- [26] M.H. Abraham, Chem. Soc. Rev. 22 (1993) 73.
- [27] C.F. Poole, The Essence of Chromatography, Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2003.
- [28] M.H. Abraham, J. Phys. Org. Chem. 6 (1993) 660.
- [29] M.H. Abraham, C.F. Poole, S.K. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 842 (1999) 79.
- [30] J.A. Platts, D. Butina, M.H. Abraham, A. Hersey, J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 39 (1999) 835.
- [31] J.A. Platts, M.H. Abraham, D. Butina, A. Hersey, J. Chem. Inf. Comput. Sci. 40 (2000) 71.
- [32] M.H. Abraham, J.A. Platts, J. Org. Chem. 66 (2001) 3484.
- [33] A.M. Zissimos, M.H. Abraham, M.C. Barker, K.J. Box, K.Y. Tam, J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 (2002) 470.
- [34] C.F. Poole, S.K. Poole, M.H. Abraham, J. Chromatogr. A 798 (1998) 207.
- [35] M.D. Trone, M.G. Khaledi, J. Chromatogr. A 886 (2000) 245.
- [36] E. Fuguet, C. Rafols, E. Bosch, M.H. Abraham, M. Roses, J. Chromatogr. A 942 (2002) 237.
- [37] M.H. Abraham, H.S. Chadha, G.S. Whiting, R.C. Mitchell, J. Pharm. Sci. 83 (1994) 1085.
- [38] M.H. Abraham, H.S. Chadha, J.P. Dixon, A.J. Leo, J. Phys. Org. Chem. 7 (1994) 712.
- [39] M.H. Abraham, J. Le, W.E. Acree, P.W. Carr, A.J. Dallas, Chemosphere 44 (2001) 855.
- [40] J.H. Zhao, P.W. Carr, Anal. Chem. 71 (1999) 2623.
- [41] M.H. Abraham, M. Roses, C.F. Poole, S.K. Poole, J. Phys. Org. Chem. 10 (1997) 358.
- [42] M.H. Abraham, J.M.R. Gola, R. Kumarsingh, J.E. Cometto-Muniz, W.S. Cain, J. Chromatogr. B 745 (2000) 103.
- [43] D.M. Cimpean, C.F. Poole, Analyst 127 (2002) 724.
- [44] Y. Ishihama, N. Asakawa, J. Pharm. Sci. 88 (1999) 2716.
- [45] R. Kaliszan, Structure and Retention in Chromatography—A Chemometric Approach, Harwood Academic, Amsterdam, 1997.
- [46] R. Kaliszan, J. Chromatogr. B 717 (1998) 125.
- [47] K. Belsner, M. Pfeifer, B.J. Willert, J. Chromatogr. 629 (1993) 123.
- [48] S. Griffin, S.G. Wyllie, J. Markham, J. Chromatogr. A 864 (1999) 221.
- [49] H. van de Waterbeemed, M. Kansy, B. Wagner, H. Fischer, Meth. Prin. Med. Chem. 4 (1996) 73.
- [50] M.-M. Hsieh, J.G. Dorsey, J. Chromatogr. 631 (1993) 63.
- [51] T. Baczek, M. Markuszewski, R. Kaliszan, M.A. van Straten, H.A. Claessens, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 23 (2000) 667.
- [52] G. Cimpan, F. Irimie, S. Gocan, H.A. Claessens, J. Chromatogr. B 714 (1998) 247.
- [53] Z.L. Sun, L.J. Song, X.T. Zhang, J. Huang, M.L. Li, J.E. Bai, Z. De Hu, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 35 (1997) 105.
- [54] C. Lepont, C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 946 (2002) 107.
- [55] Y. Chu, C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 1003 (2003) 113.
- [56] M.H. Abraham, M. Roses, J. Phys. Org. Chem. 7 (1994) 672.
- [57] M.H. Abraham, H.S. Chadha, A.J. Leo, J. Chromatogr. B 685 (1994) 203.
- [58] M.H. Abraham, H.S. Chadha, R.A.E. Leitao, R.C. Mitchell, W.J. Lambert, R. Kaliszan, A. Nasal, P. Haber, J. Chromatogr. A 766 (1997) 35.
- [59] N.C. Dias, M.I. Nawas, C.F. Poole, Analyst 128 (2003) 427.
- [60] A. Pagliara, E. Khamis, A. Trinh, P.A. Carrupt, R.-S. Tsai, B. Testa, J. Liq. Chromatogr. 18 (1995) 1721.

- [61] C.M. Du, K. Valko, C. Bevan, D. Reynolds, M.H. Abraham, J. Liq. Chromatogr. Rel. Technol. 24 (2001) 635.
- [62] M. Cichna, P. Markl, J.F.K. Huber, J. Pharm. Biomed. Anal. 13 (1995) 339.
- [63] F. Lombardo, M.Y. Shalaeva, K.A. Tupper, F. Gao, M.H. Abraham, J. Med. Chem. 43 (2000) 2922.
- [64] F. Lombardo, M.Y. Shalaeva, K.A. Tupper, F. Gao, J. Med. Chem. 44 (2001) 2490.
- [65] M. Hanna, V. de Biasi, B. Bond, C. Salter, A.J. Hutt, P. Camilleri, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 2092.
- [66] K. Miyake, F. Kitaura, N. Mizuno, H. Terada, J. Chromatogr. 389 (1987) 47.
- [67] A. Berthod, C. Garcia-Alvarez-Coque, Micellar Liquid Chromatography, Dekker, New York, NY, 2000.
- [68] M.J. Medina-Hernandez, S. Sagrado, J. Chromatogr. A 718 (1995) 273.
- [69] L. Escder-Gilabert, J.M. Sanchis-Mollols, M.J. Medina-Hernandez, R.M. Villanueva-Camanas, J. Chromatogr. A 823 (1998) 549.
- [70] M.C. Garcia-Alvarez-Coque, J.R. Torres-Lapasio, Trends Anal. Chem. 18 (1999) 533.
- [71] L. Escuder-Gilabert, Y. Martin-Biosca, S. Sagrado, R.M. Villanueva-Camafias, M.J. Medina-Hernandez, Anal. Chim. Acta 448 (2001) 173.
- [72] L.R. Snyder, J.W. Dolan, Adv. Chromatogr. 38 (1998) 115.
- [73] J. Li, B. Cai, J. Chromatogr. A 905 (2001) 35.
- [74] Y. Chu, C.F. Poole, Chromatographia (2003) in press.
- [75] V. Makovskaya, J.R. Dean, W.R. Tomlinson, S.M. Hitchen, M. Comber, Anal. Chim. Acta 315 (1995) 183.
- [76] E.M.J. Verbruggen, H.J.C. Klamer, L. Villerius, U.A.Th. Brinkman, J.L.M. Hermens, J. Chromatogr. A 835 (1999) 19.
- [77] J.D. Krass, B. Jastorff, H.-G. Genieser, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 2575.
- [78] K. Valko, C. Bevan, D. Reynolds, Anal. Chem. 69 (1997) 2022.
- [79] C.M. Du, K. Valko, C. Bevan, D. Reynolds, M.H. Abraham, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 4228.
- [80] K. Valko, C.M. Du, C.D. Bevan, D.P. Reynolds, M.H. Abraham, J. Pharm. Sci. 89 (2000) 1085.
- [81] K. Vako, C.M. Du, C. Bevan, D.P. Reynolds, M.H. Abraham, Current Med. Chem. 8 (2001) 1137.
- [82] R. Kaliszan, P. Haber, T. Baczek, D. Siluk, K. Valko, J. Chromatogr. A 965 (2002) 117.
- [83] S.F. Donovan, M.C. Pescatore, J. Chromatogr. A 952 (2002) 47.
- [84] C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 856 (1999) 399.
- [85] Sz. Nyiredy (Ed.), Planar Chromatography. A. Retrospective View for the Third Millennium, Springer Scientific Publisher, Budapest, Hungary, 2001.
- [86] T. Moffat, D. Osselton, B. Widdop (Eds.), Clarke's Isolation and Identification of Drugs, Royal Pharmaceutical Society, London, 2003.
- [87] K. Dross, C. Sonntag, R. Mannhold, J. Chromatogr. A 673 (1994) 113.
- [88] G.L. Biagi, A.M. Barbaro, A. Sapone, M. Recanatini, J. Chromatogr. A 662 (1994) 341.
- [89] G.L. Biagi, A.M. Barbaro, A. Sapone, M. Recanatini, J. Chromatogr. A 669 (1994) 246.
- [90] G.L. Biagi, A.M. Barbaro, A. Sapone, P.A. Borea, K. Varani, M. Recanatini, J. Chromatogr. A 723 (1996) 135.
- [91] R.M. Kleyle, D. Nurok, A.D. Kossoy, S.C. Burris, J. Chromatogr. A 749 (1996) 211.
- [92] R. Mannhold, K. Dross, C. Sonntag, Meth. Prin. Med. Chem. 4 (1996) 141.
- [93] C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 1000 (2003) 963.
- [94] M.H. Abraham, C.F. Poole, S.K. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 749 (1996) 201.
- [95] W. Kiridena, C.F. Poole, J. Planar Chromatogr. 12 (1999) 13.
- [96] W. Kiridena, C.F. Poole, J. Chromatogr. A 802 (1998) 335.
- [97] N.C. Dias, C.F. Poole, J. Planar Chromatogr. 13 (2000) 337.

- [98] C.F. Poole, N.C. Dias, J. Chromatogr. A 892 (2000) 123.
- [99] N. Chen, Y. Zhang, S. Terabe, T. Nakagawa, J. Chromatogr. A 678 (1994) 327.
- [100] J.T. Smith, D.V. Vinjamoori, J. Chromatogr. B 669 (1995) 59.
- [101] B.J. Herbert, J.G. Dorsey, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 744.
- [102] M.A. Garcia, J.C. Diez-Masa, M.L. Marina, J. Chromatogr. A 742 (1996) 251.
- [103] S. Yang, J.G. Bumgarner, L.F.R. Kruk, M.G. Khaledi, J. Chromatogr. A 721 (1996) 323.
- [104] G. Dinelli, R. Mallegni, A. Vicari, Electrophoresis 18 (1997) 214.
- [105] M. Adlard, G. Okafo, E. Meenan, P. Camilleri, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. (1995) 2241.
- [106] Y.S. Wu, H.K. Lee, S.F.Y. Li, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 1719.
- [107] M. Roses, C. Rafols, E. Bosch, A.M. Martinez, M.H. Abraham, J. Chromatogr. A 845 (1999) 217.
- [108] S.K. Poole, C.F. Poole, Analyst 122 (1997) 267.
- [109] S.K. Poole, D. Durham, C. Kibbey, J. Chromatogr. B 745 (2000) 117.
- [110] Y. Ishihama, Y. Oda, N. Asakawa, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 4281.
- [111] Y. Ishihama, Y. Oda, K. Uchikawa, N. Asakawa, Anal. Chem. 67 (1995) 1588.
- [112] Y. Ishihama, Y. Oda, N. Asakawa, Anal. Chem. 68 (1996) 1028.
- [113] M.H. Abraham, C. Treiner, M. Roses, C. Rafols, Y. Ishihama, J. Chromatogr. A 752 (1996) 243.
- [114] S.J. Gluck, M.H. Benko, R.K. Hallberg, K.P. Steele, J. Chromatogr. A 744 (1996) 141.
- [115] Y. Mrestani, N. El-Mokdad, H.H. Ruttinger, R. Neubert, Electrophoresis 19 (1998) 2895.
- [116] Y. Mrestani, R.H.H. Neubert, A. Krause, Pharm. Res. 15 (1998) 799.
- [117] W.L. Klotz, M.R. Schure, J.P. Foley, J. Chromatogr. A 930 (2001) 145.

- [118] S.K. Poole, C.F. Poole, Anal. Commun. 34 (1997) 57.
- [119] S.K. Poole, C.F. Poole, J. High Resolut. Chromatogr. 20 (1997) 174.
- [120] M. Roses, C. Rafols, E. Bosch, A.M. Martinez, M.H. Abraham, J. Chromatogr. A 907 (2001) 257.
- [121] M. Hong, B.S. Weekly, S.J. Grieb, J.P. Foley, Anal. Chem. 70 (1998) 1394.
- [122] W.L. Klotz, M.R. Schure, J.P. Foley, J. Chromatogr. A 962 (2002) 207.
- [123] P. Buchwald, N. Bodor, Curr. Med. Chem. 5 (1998) 353.
- [124] M.H. Abraham, J. Le, J. Pharm. Sci. 88 (1999) 868.
- [125] J.A. Platts, M.H. Abraham, Y.H. Zhao, A. Hersey, L. Ijaz, D. Butina, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 36 (2001) 719.
- [126] M.H. Abraham, H.S. Chada, F. Martins, R.C. Mitchell, M.W. Bradbury, J.A. Gratton, Pestic. Sci. 55 (1999) 78.
- [127] M.H. Abraham, A. Ibrahim, A.M. Zissimos, Y.H. Zhao, J. Comer, D.P. Reynolds, Drug Discovery Today 7 (2002) 1056.
- [128] M.H. Abraham, Y.H. Zhao, J. Le, A. Hersey, C.N. Luscombe, D.P. Reynolds, G. Beck, B. Sherborne, I. Cooper, Eur. J. Med. Chem. 37 (2002) 595.
- [129] Y.H. Zhao, J. Le, M.H. Abraham, A. Hersey, P.J. Eddershaw, C.N. Luscombe, D. Boutina, G. Beck, B. Sherborne, I. Cooper, J.A. Platts, J. Pharm. Sci. 90 (2001) 749.
- [130] M.H. Abraham, F. Martins, R.C. Mitchell, J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 49 (1997) 858.
- [131] J.A. Platts, M.H. Abraham, A. Hersey, D. Butina, Pharm. Res. 17 (2000) 1013.
- [132] A.D. Gunatilleka, C.F. Poole, Anal. Commun. 36 (1999) 235.
- [133] A.D. Gunatilleka, C.F. Poole, Analyst 125 (2000) 127.
- [134] J.A. Platts, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2 (2000) 973.
- [135] J.A. Platts, Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 2 (2000) 3115.